

americanprogress.org

Frequently Asked Questions About Community-Based Violence Intervention Programs

By Center for American Progress Criminal Justice Reform and Gun Violence Prevention teams June 2022



Contents

- 1 Introduction and summary
- 2 What is a community-based violence intervention program?
- 6 Where have these programs been successful?
- 7 What types of crime do CVI programs aim to mitigate?
- 9 Who benefits from CVI programs?
- 11 What are some of the challenges of building successful CVI programs?
- 13 How do these programs get started?
- 15 How are these programs funded?
- 17 Conclusion
- **18 Endnotes**

Introduction and summary

States, cities, and rural communities across the United States are grappling with rising gun violence.¹ While overall crime rates dropped from 2019 to 2020,² the COVID-19 pandemic has produced a spike in firearm sales and gun homicides, growing mistrust between police and the communities they serve, and great economic and social instability.³ Black and Hispanic communities disproportionately bear the brunt of this instability: They are not only experiencing increased gun violence to a greater degree but also have been hardest hit by the economic impacts of the pandemic and have had resources divested from them for generations.⁴

In order to respond to gun violence and address its root causes, communities most affected are banding together to advocate for greater investments in resources outside the criminal legal system that increase safety. Community stakeholders are also working together with their local governments in new and innovative ways to respond to instances of violence and protect their neighborhoods. These include supporting community reinvestment initiatives and building new violence prevention and intervention programs. One tool that is gaining popularity and has proved to be effective is community-based violence interventions (CVI).⁵ CVI programs serve as a vital way to connect community resources to the people who need them most, addressing the root causes of gun violence in a holistic way that cannot be done by law enforcement or local government alone.

This report addresses some of the most frequent questions around CVI programs. It provides guidance not only to community leaders but also to policymakers seeking to engage with and support these programs.

What is a community-based violence intervention program?

CVI programs focus on partnerships with those most affected by gun violence, especially from Black and Hispanic communities.⁶ The collaborations between government and community stakeholders give CVI programs credibility, making people feel safer and more likely to engage in combating the spread of gun violence. CVI programs focus on reaching the small number of people who are most connected to local cycles of violence and have proved to reduce homicides by as much as 60 percent where they are implemented.⁷ These programs are staffed by culturally competent community members who have lived experiences with violence, as well as social service providers such as therapists and job counselors. They provide support and access to services by investing in opportunities for people to pursue alternative avenues for addressing and resolving conflicts.

There are a variety of different evidence-based CVI models, and a growing number of innovative approaches that are responsive to the changing ways in which young adults in particular interact with one another, their communities, and their local governments. All of these models center "trusted messengers" as a core part of their service design, recognizing that those with proximity to community violence have a critical role to play in designing and implementing solutions.

Below is a list of the defining characteristics of some of the best-known CVI models.⁸ It should be noted that this is not an exhaustive list but rather aims to illustrate the various evidence-based models that are being implemented and adapted across the country.

Advance Peace

- Model type: Violence interruption models (also known as street outreach programs)
- Model description: Street outreach programs rely on violence interrupters to engage and support community members and mediate conflicts to prevent escalation to violence. Violence interrupters are typically individuals from the community and people directly affected by community violence. As such, they are seen as "credible messengers"—people whose voice and support can be trusted.

- Program description: Advance Peace "is dedicated to ending cyclical and retaliatory gun violence in American urban neighborhoods" by investing "in the development, health, and wellbeing of those at the center of this crisis." Advance Peace delivers anti-violence programming to hard-to-reach individuals driving urban gun violence in the neighborhoods in which they operate. One of the key program components is the 18-month Peacemaker Fellowship, which provides mentoring and social supports through street outreach workers. Advance Peace also provides financial assistance, internship opportunities, and social services navigation support, among other services. Advance Peace has demonstrated its impact in decreasing gun violence in Richmond, Oakland, and Sacramento, California.⁹
- Key stakeholders: Violence interrupters and community members

Cure Violence Global

- Model type: Violence interruption models (also known as street outreach programs)
- Model description: Street outreach programs rely on "violence interrupters" to engage and support community members and mediate conflicts to prevent escalation to violence. Violence interrupters are typically individuals from the target community and people directly affected by community violence. As such, they are seen as "credible messengers," people whose voice and support can be trusted.
- Program description: Based on the World Health Organization's approach to reversing the spread of infectious diseases, Cure Violence relies on a network of violence interrupters and outreach workers to implement its three-pronged approach. Violence interrupters identify and mediate potential conflicts to prevent violence and retaliation. Outreach workers provide case management support and help individuals access social services. Other Cure Violence workers engage diverse community stakeholders to change norms around violence in the community.¹⁰
- Key stakeholders: Violence interrupters and community members

Ceasefire, Focused Deterrence, and Project Longevity

- Model type: Group violence intervention (GVI) programs
- Model description: GVI programs recognize that a small number of people are responsible for the majority of violence in a given community and offer a collaborative approach to community violence that engages the people most connected to cycles of violence, as well as diverse community stakeholders. GVI programs replace enforcement with deterrence and foster stronger relationships between law enforcement and the people they serve.

- Program description: The central method of intervention in a GVI program is a call-in, a face-to-face meeting between those most connected to violence and community partners such as community leaders, social service providers, and law enforcement. Together, these partners study violent incidents and trends to identify individuals with the greatest connection to the violent incidents. Once identified, individuals are invited to participate in the call-in. At the call-in, individuals with credible moral authority in the community deliver a message against violence, police put participants on notice about the consequences of further violence on them as an individual and on the group as a whole, and support and outreach providers make a genuine offer of help.¹¹
- Key stakeholders: Community leaders, social service providers, criminal legal stakeholders, law enforcement, and community members

LandCare program (Philadelphia, PA)

- Model type: Community-driven Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design (CPTED)
- Model description: CPTED programs focus on improving conditions of the built environment where violent crime occurs in order to reduce opportunity and motive for future crime in the area. Infrastructure improvements allow people to feel safe and a sense of community in their neighborhoods.
- Program description: LandCare works with local government as well as with a network of contractors and community groups to transform vacant lots into publicly accessible green spaces. These spaces provide long-term benefits to the neighborhood, including reduced gun crime and improved public health and wellness.¹²
- Key stakeholders: Local and state governments, urban planners, and community members

Violence Intervention Program (Baltimore, MD)

- Model type: Hospital-based violence intervention program (HVIP)
- Model description: Operating out of emergency departments and trauma centers, HVIPs engage survivors of violence immediately after injury occurs. Case managers ensure that survivors have access to the resources necessary to facilitate their immediate recovery, such as trauma support, counseling, and safety planning, while also supporting survivors' long-term stability by ensuring their basic needs are met and providing ongoing case management. Support and stability during this critical time decreases the likelihood of retaliatory violence.

- Program description: The Violence Intervention Program is an intensive program that assists survivors of intentional violent injury in the hospital setting. Once an individual agrees to participate, they are paired with a case manager or outreach worker to develop an individualized action plan. Strong partnerships between the hospital and community providers connect people with the support needed to address their goals, including those mandated by parole/probation or through a court order. The program also provides participants with peer support groups.¹³
- **Key stakeholders:** Hospital staff, case managers, and survivors of community violence

READI Chicago

- Model type: Cognitive behavioral intervention (CBI)
- Model description: Based on evidence that combining cognitive behavioral interventions and access to economic opportunity can help individuals stay safer, these programs work through community-based organizations to directly engage individuals at the highest risk of experiencing violence and connect them with mental health supports, paid transitional jobs and professional development, and support services.
- Program description: READI Chicago's yearlong program connects people "most affected by gun violence to cognitive behavioral interventions, paid transitional jobs, and wraparound support services to help them create a path for a different future and to reduce violence in the city's most impacted neighborhoods." CBI helps participants respond less reflexively to stressors in their lives. READI Chicago relies on the expertise of community partners and those in the criminal legal system as well as the predictive analytics of a risk assessment to identify participants for the program.¹⁴
- **Key stakeholders:** CBI specialists, outreach workers, and criminal legal system partners

The models listed above are just a few in a long list of successful programs that can serve as a basis for stakeholders looking to bring new ideas to their communities. It is vital that communities continue to innovate and test new solutions. No two neighborhoods are the same from one year to the next, and the interventions needed to stem gun violence must evolve as well.

Where have these programs been successful?

Rigorous evaluation in cities across the country has proved that many CVI programs are successful. It is critically important that stakeholders continue to push for investments in research and evaluation of these programs to ensure they will grow and develop in ways that continue to serve communities affected by gun violence.

CVI programs have seen success across the country

Prior to COVID-19 restrictions shuttering CVI programs in Oakland, California, they helped reduce shootings and homicides for seven consecutive years, culminating in a 50 percent reduction.¹⁵ Advance Peace has been effective at reducing gun violence in several cities that have implemented its innovative communitybased approach.¹⁶ Baltimore, Chicago, New York City, and Philadelphia have each seen a more than 30 percent reduction in shootings and killings after adopting the Cure Violence model.¹⁷ Chicago CRED saw a 50 percent reduction in gunshot injuries among its participants 18 months after implementation.¹⁸ Eight Communities Partnering 4 Peace (CP4P) in the city of Chicago saw a 20 percent reduction in nonfatal gunshot injuries among program participants overall 18 months after implementation.¹⁹

Project Longevity, implemented in three cities in Connecticut that suffered 70 percent of the state's gun homicides before the implementation of the program, showed a 50 percent decline in gun homicides from 2011 to 2016. Since Richmond, California, launched its Office of Neighborhood Safety in 2007, the city saw a 71 percent reduction in gun violence leading to injuries or death.²⁰ The Violence Intervention Program in Baltimore's University of Maryland Medical Center showed a 75 percent reduction in violent criminal activity among program participants over a three-year period.²¹

What types of crime do CVI programs aim to mitigate?

Overall, community-based violence intervention programs look specifically to reduce the rates of serious gun-related crimes in the United States. These include gun homicides, nonfatal gun injuries, and other gun-related crimes. It is important that programs have clear goals when it comes to crime reduction and that those goals are tracked, as well as that results are broadly shared.

Types of gun-related crimes that saw reductions under CVI

- Gun homicides: A primary objective of CVI programs is the reduction of gun homicides. Every day, approximately 42 people are murdered with a gun in the United States.²² The gun homicide rate in this country is 25 times higher than the average of other developed nations.²³ The costs to communities of fatal shootings are immense, especially in Black communities. Not only are lives lost, but families and loved ones bear the steep emotional and economic toll for years to come.
- Nonfatal shootings: CVI programs also seek to reduce nonfatal shootings. For every gun homicide in the country, there are two nonfatal gunshot injuries. Reports show that close to 43 percent of these injuries are the result of interpersonal violence.²⁴ Unfortunately, survivors of nonfatal gunshot injuries often experience lifelong physical, mental, and emotional health effects as well as social consequences related to their injuries. These consequences include chronic pain, depression, post-traumatic stress disorder, and unemployment.²⁵
- Threats of gun violence during crimes: Guns are frequently used to threaten and coerce victims during robberies and assaults. An analysis by the Center for American Progress found that from 2009 to 2018, there were more than 3.6 million nonfatal crimes that involved a threat with a firearm.²⁶ Even when shots are not fired, the threat of gun violence can have major impacts on the lives of survivors. Studies have shown that gun victimization is linked to victims reporting higher levels of distress as well as emotional and physical symptoms months after the violent event.²⁷

While most of these programs address violent crimes, some also contribute to reducing other issues such as environmental conditions and property crime. Cities are increasingly investing in vacant lot and building remediation, enhanced street lighting, and engagement strategies grounded in public art.²⁸ Other efforts have worked toward reducing property crime. For example, a 2017 study analyzed 264 cities and found that community involvement in partnership with nonprofits was associated with a 4 percent reduction in property crime.²⁹

Who benefits from CVI programs?

The communities that most benefit from these programs are those that have historically suffered from segregation and discrimination and those where access to education and employment opportunities is insufficient. Communities of color, particularly Black and Hispanic communities, have experienced decades of underinvestment and overpolicing, which has led to many people being removed from their communities due to incarceration, as well as to limited access to stabilizing resources such as affordable housing, health care, education, and employment opportunities.³⁰ As a result of these conditions, gun violence is prevalent, disproportionately affecting young people and Black and Hispanic communities. For example, while young people ages 15 to 29 represented 20 percent of the population from 2016 to 2020, they suffered 48 percent of gun homicides.³¹ Similarly, while Black people represented 13 percent of the U.S. population during the same period, they suffered 59 percent of gun homicides.³² Similarly, while young Hispanics represent 4 percent of the population, they suffered 8 percent of gun homicides from 2016 to 2020. Unfortunately, young people and people of color such as Black and Hispanic people suffer similar disparities when looking at nonfatal gunshot injuries and other gun-related crimes such as robberies and assaults.³³ Though part of the violence that is being experienced throughout cities in the United States is the product of this underinvestment, many responses to crime have emphasized carceral measures that have ultimately undermined rather than promoted community safety.³⁴ In contrast, CVI programs focus resources in underinvested communities in an attempt to address the root causes of violence.

The greatest cost of the gun violence crisis in America is the loss of human life. Families, friends, and communities experience the loss or injury of their loved ones in countless ways, but the economic toll is staggering. On average, gun violence costs the country \$280 billion per year across multiple systems including health care, criminal legal response, and lost future earnings.³⁵ CVI programs save community resources across systems and do the difficult work of saving lives. Cities that have implemented Cure Violence models have saved up to \$18 in medical and criminal legal expenses for every \$1 invested in the program.³⁶ The city of Sacramento saved \$18 to \$41 for every \$1 invested in its Advanced Peace program across its emergency response, health care, and criminal legal systems.³⁷

What are some of the challenges of building successful CVI programs?

Though support for CVI programs is growing across the political and ideological spectrum, ensuring program success is not without its challenges. These challenges are detailed in the menus below.

Inadequate funding

While political support and funding for CVI programs are growing, both are still lacking in many respects. While the president has proposed hundreds of millions of dollars for CVI programs,³⁸ Congress has failed to act on a more comprehensive funding measure, such as the Build Back Better Act or the Break the Cycle of Violence Act.³⁹ These bills would provide up to \$5 billion over eight years for CVI programs and create an Office of Community Violence Intervention in the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. At the state and local levels, support for CVI has been growing to varying degrees, and there are coalitions across the country working to increase funding for affected communities.⁴⁰

Gun proliferation and firearm trafficking

The United States is the country with the highest level of gun ownership in the world, and the volume of firearms continues to grow, particularly during the COVID-19 pandemic.⁴¹ Moreover, ghost guns have grown to be a major threat and are frequently used in shootings across U.S. cities.⁴² The ease with which firearms are trafficked represents a major challenge to the effectiveness of CVI programs. Data from the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives show that from 2010 to 2020, more than 638,000 firearms crossed state lines before being used in a crime—a major sign of gun trafficking.⁴³ Cities such as New York, Chicago, and Baltimore are often the recipients of these guns, which usually originate in states with much weaker gun laws.⁴⁴ The accessibility and availability of guns is widely considered to be one of the factors contributing to the recent rise in shootings.⁴⁵ While CVI programs have a holistic, public-health-based view of reducing violence that does not address gun laws, efforts to complement these programs should include actions to ban ghost guns, the passage of misdemeanor prohibition laws, strong conceal carry requirements, regulations for assault weapons,⁴⁶ universal background checks, and extreme risk protection orders.

While the Biden administration has taken action to address the threat of ghost guns,⁴⁷ federal and state legislatures should similarly work to pass legislation that reduces gun trafficking. Federal and state legislatures should similarly work to pass legislation that reduces gun trafficking.

Public trust

Successful CVI programs rely on trusted relationships between local governments, community-based service providers, and those who have been personally affected by gun violence. The service providers who have the most credibility in communities are often apprehensive about working with local governments due to historical underinvestment and lack of community inclusion in decision-making. Organizations have concerns that involvement with law enforcement or a government agency would damage their credibility in the communities they serve. To combat these tensions, government officials should consider a thoughtful and inclusive program development process that centers the experiences of community stakeholders. Rather than investing in existing government infrastructure, government should equitably invest funding in community-based programs and services, with priority given to organizations led and staffed by people who are or have been directly affected by violence and the criminal legal system. Moreover, in many communities, law enforcement agencies have publicly recognized the importance of CVI in addressing the root causes of gun violence and giving individuals meaningful opportunities to change their lives.⁴⁸ Lastly, the governance structure for CVI programs should include real power-sharing between government and community decision-makers.

How do these programs get started?

CVI programs get started in a variety of ways. In some instances, programs stem from vocal community organizing and advocacy. In other instances, programs result from recommendations associated with a collaborative violence prevention planning body or task force. Other times, existing government offices build on or modify existing programming to increase effectiveness. It is important to understand where opportunities exist for innovation and meaningful engagement between government and community stakeholders in building CVI programs.

Regardless of the circumstances that catalyze CVI efforts, there are three key components needed in every community for CVI programs to be successful. First, government stakeholders need to be committed to working with community-based organizations and credible messengers in new ways, sharing power and funding. Second, community organizations and leaders need to dedicate their expertise to working with people who are most connected to local cycles of violence, delivering services and supports that have proved successful and tracking outcomes over time. Finally, adequate funding needs to be dedicated to CVI programs to ensure that they can offer meaningful alternatives to program participants.

Examples of CVI program origination

- Some programs begin as responses to tragedies within communities. For example, Not Another Child⁴⁹ was founded in 2006 by the family of Andrell Daron Napper, who was shot by a stray bullet in Brooklyn, New York. Andrell's mother and brother founded the group to ensure that his death was not in vain. Not Another Child hosts mental health support sessions, runs a mentorship program for children and young adults, and hosts workshops to help young people finish high school and build their lives. The group is one of many CVI programs started by survivors; another is Mothers/Men Against Senseless Killing (MASK)⁵⁰ in Chicago.
- Other programs develop as responses to sustained and coordinated community advocacy. In Oakland, California,⁵¹ the Oakland Ceasefire Partnership launched in 2021 after years of community activism. The lengthy development process

saw funding shortfalls, local political instability, and a tenuous relationship with local law enforcement. Eventually, however, the community and local leaders were able to come together after many meetings around a shared vision for the program.

Whether efforts to start CVI programs are initiated by local authorities and community leaders or in response to community tragedies, there is no right or wrong way to build community-based violence intervention programs.

How are these programs funded?

Despite evidence of success, CVI programs have been grossly underfunded in most places across the country. Instead, taxpayer resources have been more focused on responding to gun violence after the fact. Federal, state, and local governments have slowly recognized the need to fund community-centered efforts and are increasing resources for CVI programs. However, more needs to be done to create real access for everyone who has been harmed by gun violence. Funding for CVI programs tends to come from the federal government, state governments, local governments, and philanthropic organizations.

Federal government

At the federal level, the Biden administration and Congress have both acted to expand funding for CVI programs.

- Executive action: In April, the Biden administration enacted changes to 26 federal grant programs across five departments to allow for increased funding and technical assistance for CVI implementation.⁵² For fiscal year 2023, the administration included \$150 million in funding in the U.S. Department of Justice's budget for CVI development, implementation, and evaluation.⁵³ President Biden also announced that states are permitted to use Medicaid funding to support CVI programs.⁵⁴ While this increased funding is a step in the right direction, much more is needed.
- Legislative action: Recognizing the impact that the COVID-19 pandemic has had on gun violence, the White House announced that local jurisdictions were permitted to devote a portion of their \$350 billion American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) funding to CVI programs.⁵⁵ The information currently available across the country about the overall investment in CVI is limited due to the facts that states and counties are still allocating these funds and aggregated reporting of this information is not yet fully developed. However, the Biden administration recently announced that \$10 billion in American Rescue Plan funds have been dedicated to public safety and violence prevention, which includes CVI programs.⁵⁶ Congress is also considering the Break the Cycle of Violence Act⁵⁷ this session. If passed, this bill would dedicate close to \$5 billion to CVI programs over the next decade.⁵⁸

State governments

Because of the limited availability of federal funding, some states have stepped up to fill funding gaps. In 2021, at least 15 states collectively committed \$690 million in funding to CVI.⁵⁹ For example, Illinois⁶⁰ has pledged \$250 million over three years to reduce gun violence, including direct investments in CVI programs.⁶¹ In 2021, Pennsylvania pooled \$24 million in state resources, with \$15 million in ARPA funding, for its Violence Intervention and Prevention Grant Program, which has served as a major source of funding for its CVI programs.⁶² States such as Connecticut and Illinois are devoting Medicaid resources to CVI programs, specifically hospital-based interventions.⁶³

City and county governments

City and county governments also devote significant resources to CVI programs. This includes directly funding government-run CVI programs or those run by service providers that contract directly with the government. For example, Chicago is devoting \$85 million to CVI programs over three years as part of a larger package of public safety measures.⁶⁴ Increasingly, cities and counties are also establishing community violence grant-making programs, where funding is dedicated directly to community-based organizations through grant awards to support their operations.

Philanthropic organizations

Philanthropic organizations have started increasing their investments in community-led CVI programs. The White House has brought together 15 national philanthropic partners to invest in its Community Violence Intervention Collaborative, a cohort of 16 cities across the country committed to using ARPA funding or other resources to increase investment in CVI programs and infrastructure.⁶⁵ Local community foundations and corporate partners are also investing in CVI in their home cities. For example, the Newark Community Street Team received \$1 million in funding from local grant-maker the Victoria Foundation, as well as Prudential Financial, which is headquartered in Newark.⁶⁶

The growing commitment to funding CVI programs is promising. However, these financial commitments are still out of sync with the scope of the problem of gun violence. More long-term and sustainable resources are needed to support the growth of the field, the development of program staff, and the availability of meaningful support services for clients.

Conclusion

As cities across the country experience increases in gun violence, community stakeholders are calling on government officials to invest in evidence-based strategies that work. Community-based violence intervention models that have been developed for more than two decades are being deployed nationwide to engage those who are at the greatest risk of being involved in gun violence. CVI programs are a unique opportunity for partnerships between governments and people who have been directly affected by violence, dedicating resources to address the root causes of gun violence and working in tandem to change lives and keep communities safe.

Endnotes

- 1 Nazish Dholakia and Daniela Gilbert, "Community Violence Intervention Programs, Explained" (New York: Vera Institute of Justice, 2021), available at https://www. vera.org/community-violence-intervention-programsexplained#:~:text=Community%20violence%20intervention%20(CVI)%20programs,%E2%80%94or%20 both%E2%80%94of%20violence.
- 2 Rachel E. Morgan and Alexandra Thompson, "Criminal Victimization, 2020" (Washington: Bureau of Justice Statistics, 2021), available at https://bjs.ojp. gov/sites/g/files/xyckuh236/files/media/document/ cv20.pdf.
- 3 Edward Helmore, "US gun sales spike during pandemic and continue to rise," *The Guardian*, May 31, 2021, available at https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2021/ may/31/us-gun-sales-rise-pandemic; Edward Levy Yeyati and Federico Filippini, "Social and Economic Impact of COVID 19" (Washington: Brookings Institution, 2021), available at https://www.brookings.edu/ research/social-and-economic-impact-of-covid-19/.
- 4 Christina Maxouris, "Black and Latino communities face another public health crisis amid the pandemic – gun violence," CNN, July 15, 2020, available at https:// www.cnn.com/2020/07/15/us/gun-violence-covidcrisis-black-latino-communities/index.html.
- 5 Matt Ferner, "New Poll: Americans Support Spending American Rescue Act Funds on Community Violence Intervention, See Violence Interrupters As Key to Reducing Gun Violence," Safer Cities, September 8, 2021, available at https://safercitiesresearch.com/thelatest/polling-community-violence-interrupters. For effectiveness, see, for example, Mike McLively and Brittany Nieto, "A Case Study in Hope" (San Francisco: Giffords Law Center to Prevent Gun Violence, 2019), available at https://giffords.org/lawcenter/report/acase-study-in-hope-lessons-from-oaklands-remarkable-reduction-in-gun-violence/.
- 6 Dholakia and Gilbert, "Community Violence Intervention Programs, Explained."
- 7 Giffords Law Center to Prevent Gun Violence and PICO National Network, "Healing Communities in Crisis" (San Francisco and Oakland, CA: 2019), available https://giffords.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/ Healing-Communities-in-Crisis.pdf.
- 8 National Criminal Justice Association, "An Overview: Community Violence Intervention Strategies" (Washington: 2021), available at https://www.ncja.org/_files/ ugd/cda224_c5b96183fb614e9692f99513646abd0d. pdf?index=true.
- 9 Advance Peace, "Home," available at https://www. advancepeace.org/ (last accessed May 2022).
- 10 Cure Violence Global, "Home," available at https:// cvg.org/ (last accessed May 2022).
- 11 National Network for Safe Communities at John Jay College, "Group Violence Intervention," available at https://nnscommunities.org/strategies/groupviolence-intervention/ (last accessed May 2022).
- 12 Everytown for Gun Safety, "Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design" (New York: 2021), available at https://everytownsupportfund.org/report/crimeprevention-through-environmental-design/.
- 13 University of Maryland Medical Center, "Violence Intervention Program," available at https://www. umms.org/ummc/community/classes-events/healthimprovement/violence-intervention-program (last accessed May 2022).

- 14 READI Chicago, "Home," available at https://www. heartlandalliance.org/readi/ (last accessed May 2022).
- 15 McLively and Nieto, "A Case Study in Hope."
- 16 Jason Corburn and Amanda Fukutome-Lopez, "Outcome Evaluation of Advance Peace Sacramento, 2018-19" (Berkeley, CA: Berkeley Institute of Urban and Regional Development, 2020), available at https://www.advancepeace.org/wp-content/ uploads/2020/04/Corburn-and-F-Lopez-Advance-Peace-Sacramento-2-Year-Evaluation-03-2020.pdf.
- 17 Cure Violence Global, "Our Impact," available at https://cvg.org/impact/ (last accessed May 2022).
- 18 Northwestern Neighborhood & Network Initiative, "Reaching and Connecting: Preliminary Results from Chicago CRED's Impact on Gun Violence Involvement" (Cleveland: Northwestern Institute for Policy Research, 2021), available at https://www.ipr. northwestern.edu/documents/reports/ipr-n3-rapidresearch-reports-cred-impact-aug-25-2021.pdf.
- 19 Northwestern Neighborhood & Network Initiative, "Communities Partnering 4 Peace (CP4P) Preliminary Individual Results" (Evanston, IL: Northwestern Institute for Policy Research, 2021), available at https:// www.ipr.northwestern.edu/documents/reports/ ipr-n3-rapid-research-report-cp4p-preliminaryresults-3-september-2021.pdf.
- 20 City of Richmond Office of Neighborhood Safety, "2016 Highlights" (Richmond, CA: 2016), available at https://www.ci.richmond.ca.us/DocumentCenter/ View/41749.
- 21 Cornell Cooper, Dawn M Eslinger, and Paul D Stolly, "Hospital-based violence intervention programs work," *Journal of Trauma* 61 (3) (2006): 537–540.
- 22 Center for American Progress analysis of Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Injury Prevention & Control: Data & Statistics (WISQARS): Fatal Injury Data," available at https://wisqars.cdc.gov/fatal-reports (last accessed May 2022). Information is based on 2016–2020 data.
- 23 CAP analysis of Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Injury Prevention & Control: Data & Statistics (WISQARS): Fatal Injury Data"; Erin Grinshteyn and David Hemenway, "Violent Death Rates in the US compared to those of other high-income nations, 2015," *Preventive Medicine* 123 (2019): 20–26.
- 24 Editorial Board, "Gun violence isn't just about who dies - it's also about who gets wounded and lives," The Washington Post, June 17, 2017, available at https:// www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/gun-violenceisnt-just-about-who-dies--its-also-about-who-getswounded-and-lives/2017/06/17/0f460fa0-52d8-1 1e7-91eb-9611861a988f_story.html; CAP analysis of Everytown for Gun Safety, "Everystat," available at https://everystat.org/ (last accessed May 2022).
- 25 Michael A. Vella, "Long-term Functional, Psychological, Emotional, and Social Outcomes in Survivors of Firearm Injury," JAMA Surgery 155 (1) (2020): 51–59.
- 26 Eugenio Weigend Vargas and Rukmani Bhatia, "No Shots Fired: Examining the Impact and Trauma Linked to the Threat of Gunfire Within the U.S." (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2020), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/ article/no-shots-fired/.

- 27 Rose MC Kagawa and others, "Distress level and daily functioning problems attributed to firearm victimization: sociodemographic-specific responses," *Annals* of Epidemiology 41 (35) (2020): 35–42; Eugenio Weigend Vargas and David Hemenway, "Emotional and physical symptoms after gun victimization in the United States, 2009-2019," *Preventive Medicine* (2021).
- 28 Everytown for Gun Safety, "Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design" (New York: 2019), available at https://everytownsupportfund.org/ report/crime-prevention-through-environmentaldesign/#:~:text=This%20work%20is%20often%20 called,crime%20and%20increase%20community%20safety.
- 29 Patrick Sharkey, Gerard Torrats-Espinosa, and Delaram Takyar, "Community and the Crime Decline: The Casual Effect of Nonprofits on Violent Crime," *American Sociological Review* 82 (6) (2017): 1214–1240.
- 30 Giffords, "Community Violence," available at https:// giffords.org/issues/community-violence/ (last accessed May 2022).
- 31 CAP analysis of Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Injury Prevention & Control: Data & Statistics (WISQARS): Fatal Injury Data."
- 32 Ibid.
- 33 Ibid.; Weigend Vargas and Bhatia, "No Shots Fired."
- 34 David J. Harding and others, "A natural experiment study of the effects of imprisonment on violence in the community," *Nature Human Behavior* 3 (2019): 671–677.
- 35 Everytown For Gun Safety, "The Economic Cost of Gun Violence" (New York: 2021), available at https:// everytownresearch.org/report/the-economic-cost-ofgun-violence/.
- 36 Cure Violence Global, "We can cure violence" (Chicago: 2019), available at https://1vp6u534z5kr2qmr0w11t7ubwpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/ uploads/2019/09/2019.07.31-US-Handout.pdf.
- 37 Corburn and Fukutome-Lopez, "Outcome Evaluation of Advance Peace Sacramento, 2018-19."
- 38 The White House, "President Biden Announces More Actions to Reduce Gun Crime and Calls on Congress to Fund Community Policing and Community Violence Intervention," February 3, 2022, available at https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/ speeches-remarks/2022/02/03/president-bidenannounces-more-actions-to-reduce-gun-crime-andcalls-on-congress-to-fund-community-policing-andcommunity-violence-intervention/.
- 39 Break the Cycle of Violence Act, S. 2275, 117th Cong., 1st sess. (June 24, 2021), available at https://www. congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/senate-bill/2275/ text.
- 40 Tiffany Cusaac-Smith, "Groups want \$1B for community violence programs, other services to combat gun violence," Lohud, February 17, 2022, available at https://www.lohud.com/story/news/2022/02/17/ groups-want-s-1-b-community-violence-programsother-services/6828671001/.
- 41 Aaron Karp, "Estimating Global Civilian-Held Firearms Numbers" (Geneva: Small Arms Survey, 2018), available at https://www.smallarmssurvey.org/sites/ default/files/resources/SAS-BP-Civilian-Firearms-Numbers.pdf.

- 42 Garen J. Wintemute, "Ghost guns: spookier than you think they are," *Injury Epidemiology* 8 (13) (2021); Everytown for Gun Safety, "Ghost Guns Recoveries and Shootings," April 8, 2022, available at https://everytownresearch.org/report/ghost-guns-recoveriesand-shootings/#ghost-guns-recoveries.
- 43 CAP analysis of Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives, "Firearms Trace Data," available at https://www.atf.gov/resource-center/data-statistics (last accessed May 2022).
- 44 Shelby Bremmer, "Majority of Guns Used in Chicago Crimes Come from Outside Illinois: Report," 5 Chicago, October 29, 2017, available at https://www.nbcchicago. com/news/national-international/chicago-gun-tracereport-2017/27140/; Ron Cassie, "The high-capacity handguns fueling Baltimore's epidemic of violence increasingly enter the city through an underground network of out-of-state traffickers. Can anything be done to turn off the spigot?", Baltimore Magazine, available at https://www.baltimoremagazine.com/section/community/iron-pipeline-gun-violence-out-of-state-traffickers/ (last accessed May 2022).
- 45 Kelly Drane, "Surging Gun Violence: Where we are, how we got here, and where we go next" (San Francisco: Giffords Law Center to Prevent Gun Violence, 2022), available at https://giffords.org/lawcenter/ report/surging-gun-violence-where-we-are-how-wegot-here-and-where-we-go/.
- 46 For a definition of "assault weapon," see Center for American Progress "Assault Weapons and High-Capacity Magazines Must be Banned" (Washington: 2019), available at https://www.americanprogress. org/article/assault-weapons-high-capacity-magazines-must-banned/.
- 47 The White House, "FACT SHEET: The Biden Administration Cracks Down on Ghost Guns, Ensures That ATF has Leadership it Needs to Enforce our Own Gun Laws," Press release, April 11, 2022, available at https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/ statements-releases/2022/04/11/fact-sheet-thebiden-administration-cracks-down-on-ghost-gunsensures-that-atf-has-the-leadership-it-needs-toenforce-our-gun-laws/.
- 48 Austin Kemker, "Community based initiatives make push to break crime's violent grip on Baton Rouge," WAFB 9, June 10, 2021, available at https://www.wafb. com/2021/06/10/community-based-initiatives-makepush-break-crimes-violent-grip-baton-rouge/.
- 49 See Not Another Child, available at https://www. notanotherchild.org/ (last accessed May 2022).
- 50 On the Block, "MASK is what happens when we are present on the block," available at https://www.ontheblock.org/ (last accessed May 2022).
- 51 McLively and Nieto, "A Case Study in Hope."
- 52 The White House, "FACT SHEET: More Details on the Biden-Harris Administration's Investments in Community Violence Interventions," Press release, April 7, 2021, available at https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefingroom/statements-releases/2021/04/07/fact-sheetmore-details-on-the-biden-harris-administrationsinvestments-in-community-violence-interventions/.
- 53 U.S. Department of Justice, "FY 2023 Budget Request Overview" (Washington: 2022), available at https:// www.ojp.gov/sites/g/files/xyckuh241/files/media/ document/fy23budgetoverview.pdf.

- 54 Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, "All-State Medicaid & CHIP call" (Baltimore: 2021), available at https://static1.squarespace.com/ static/5d6f61730a2b610001135b79/t/609455a497cecd 58d0ae09a6/1620333989639/CMS+All-State+Webin ar+on+Medicaid+and+CHIP.pdf.
- 55 The White House, "Fact Sheet: Biden-Harris Administration Announces Comprehensive Strategy to Prevent and Respond to Gun Crime and Ensure Public Safety," Press release, June 23, 2021, available at https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/ statements-releases/2021/06/23/fact-sheet-bidenharris-administration-announces-comprehensivestrategy-to-prevent-and-respond-to-gun-crime-andensure-public-safety/.
- 56 The White House, "FACT SHEET: President Biden Issues Call for State and Local Leaders to Dedicate More American Rescue Plan Funding to Make Our Communities Safer – And Deploy These Dollars Quickly," Press release, May 13, 2022, available at https://www.whitehouse.gov/ birefing-room/statements-releases/2022/05/13/ fact-sheet-president-biden-issues-call-for-stateand-local-leaders-to-dedicate-more-american-rescue-plan-funding-to-make-our-communities-saferand-deploy-these-dollars-quickly/.
- 57 Everytown for Gun Safety, "Support the Break the Cycle of Violence Act (2021)" (New York: 2021), available at https://www.everytown.org/report/supportthe-break-the-cycle-of-violence-act-2021/.
- 58 Everytown for Gun Safety, "Support the Break the Cycle of Violence Act (2021)."
- 59 Giffords Law Center to Prevent Gun Violence, "State Support for CVI: Trends and Best Practices" (San Francisco: 2021), available at https://counciloncj. org/wp-content/uploads/2021/12/McLively-Presentation_12.1.21.pdf?utm_source=The+Trace+mailin g+list&utm_campaign=01239dd3c6-EMAIL_CAM-PAIGN_2019_09_24_04_06_COPY_01&utm_ medium=email&utm_term=0_f76c3ff31c-01239dd3c6-112590550.

- 60 Illinois Department of Human Services, "Firearm Violence Prevention Grant Information," available at https://www.dhs.state.il.us/page.aspx?item=138882 (last accessed May 2022).
- 61 Government of Illinois, "Gov. Pritzker Expands the Reimagine Public Safety Act to Further Interrupt Gun Violence," Press release, December 10, 2021, available at https://www.illinois.gov/news/pressrelease.24257.html.
- 62 Pennsylvania Commission on Crime and Delinquency, "Gun Violence Grants & Funding," available at https://www.pccd.pa.gov/criminaljustice/Gun-Violence/Pages/Grants-and-Funding.aspx (last accessed May 2022).
- 63 Courtney Subramanian, "As the gun control debate stalls, Medicaid became an unlikely tool to fight violence," USA Today, September 17, 2021, available at https://www.usatoday.com/story/news/politics/2021/09/17/medicaid-funds-tapped-combatrise-crime-gun-debate-stalls/8326102002/?gnt-cfr=1.
- 64 Drew Lindsay, "As Homicide Rates Surge, Momentum Grows for Community Violence-Prevention Solutions," *The Chronicle of Philanthropy*, March 1, 2022, available at https://www.philanthropy.com/article/ as-homicide-rates-surge-momentum-grows-forcommunity-violence-prevention-solutions.
- 65 The White House, "Readout of White House Community Violence Intervention Collaborative Meeting," Press release, February 16, 2022, available at https://www. whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2022/02/16/readout-of-white-house-communityviolence-intervention-collaborative-meeting-2/.
- 66 Lindsay, "As Homicide Rates Surge, Momentum Grows for Community Violence-Prevention Solutions."



americanprogress.org

1333 H Street, NW, 10th Floor, Washington, DC 20005 • Tel: 202-682-1611 • Fax: 202-682-1867